TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of two sections, a supplemental record and three volumes of exhibits. The first part, contained in volumes I and II, consists of documents filed with the clerk. References to this part of the record on appeal will be designated by volume number, followed by "R" and page number. The second part of the record on appeal is contained in volumes III through XIX and consists of transcripts from trial and sentencing. References to this part of the record on appeal will be designated by volume number, followed by "T" and page number. References to the six-volume "supplemental record" which contains mostly pretrial hearings will be designated "S" and volume number, followed by "R" or "T" as appropriate and the page number. References to the exhibits will be designated "E" and volume number, followed by "E" and page number. References to the Appendix to this brief (containing the court's sentencing order) will be designated "A" and page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Hillsborough County grand jury returned a two-count indictment on June 12, 1996 charging Samuel Smithers, Appellant, with the first degree murders of Cristy Cowan and Denise Roach (I, R22-3). The murder of Cowan was alleged to have taken place May 28, 1996 and the murder of Roach sometime between May 12, 1996 and May 28, 1996 (I, R22).

Prior to trial, Appellant filed motions on May 21, 1998 to sever the offenses and to suppress his confession (I, R64-7). These motions were heard before Circuit Judge William Fuente on June 29, 1998 (SI-II, T4-218). The court issued an order denying the motion to suppress confession on July 22, 1998 (I, R69-73A). After hearing additional argument concerning the motion to sever on August 13, 1998 (SII, T235-71), the judge entered a written order denying severance August 24, 1998 (I, R81-5).

The case proceeded to trial before Judge Fuente and a jury. The jury was selected on December 14, 1998 (I, R122; III-IV, T5-321). Appellant's " Second Motion in Limine" (I, R112-3) seeking to exclude inflammatory photographs of the victims bodies was heard immediately following the swearing of the jury (IV, T326-48). The judge found that several of the photos were "extremely I guess shocking" (IV, T331), but nonetheless denied the motion and admitted the photos to illustrate the medical examiner's testimony (IV, T330, 339-40, 345, 348).¹

¹One of the photos was ordered to be cropped (IV, T340) and the State agreed to withdraw another (IV, T343).

After the State presented its case, defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal based upon failure to prove premeditation on both counts (X, T1099). The court denied the motion (X, T1099). The sole defense witness was Appellant who testified in his own defense (X, T1104-1206). Defense counsel's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied (X, T1211). The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on both counts (II, R164-5; XI, T1338).

Appellant filed a motion for new trial (II, R166-7) which was heard and denied by the court on January 23, 1999 (XVII, T2235-8).

Penalty phase commenced on January 22, 1999 (II, R193; XII, T1357). The State offered witness testimony from three of Appellant's co-workers at Borell Electric Company and Detective James Iverson (XII, T1361-1447). Appellant's two brothers, Robert Smithers and Alvin Smithers, his former wife, Sharon Smithers-Cole, and son, Jonathan Smithers, testified as defense witnesses (XII, T1454-1518; XIII, T1567-1616; XVI, T2050-88). Additional defense testimony came from Beatrice Green, an assistant principal, Sheriff's Detention Deputy Ray Cruz, and three mental health professionals, Drs. Frank Wood, Robert Berland and Michael Maher (XIII, T1532-40, 1544-66, 1617-82; XIV, T1694-1824; XV-XVI, T1838-2048). The State then presented three mental health professionals in rebuttal, Dr. Edward Ikeman, Dr. Donald Taylor, and Dr. Barbara Stein (XVI, T2090-2216). The jury recommended that Smithers be sentenced to death for both murders

(II, R209; XVIII, T2351).

A Spencer hearing was held on April 15 and 16, 1999 (SIII, T425-541; SVI, T759-79). The judge heard testimony from victim Cristy Cowan's father, John G. Cowan, who urged the court to sentence Smithers to life imprisonment (SVI, T765-71). He asked that the case be resolved without him having to wait years for a possible execution (SVI, T768). He also stated that he did not want the "great harm" that would be done to Jonathan Smithers and Appellant's ex-wife if Appellant were executed (SVI, T768). Cowan hoped that Appellant might come to truly repent if he were sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole (SVI, T768-9).

Sharon Smithers also urged the court to impose a life sentence (SVI, T771-6). She testified that Appellant had been a "wonderful husband" and devoted father to their adopted son, Jonathan (SVI, T772-4). Arguments were made by both counsel regarding the propriety of imposing a death sentence (SIII, T428-539).

Sentencing was held June 25, 1999, at which time the court read his "Sentencing Order"² (II, R245-61; XIX, T2362-82). As aggravating circumstances applicable to both murders, the judge found: 1) Appellant was previously convicted of a capital felony based upon the contemporaneous convictions, and 2) the homicides were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel (II, R246-50; XIX,

²The "Sentencing Order" is reproduced in the Appendix to this brief.

T2366-70; A2-6). A third aggravating circumstance, committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, was found applicable to the murder of Cristy Cowan only (II, R250-3; XIX, T2370-3; A6-9).

In mitigation, the judge found both statutory mental mitigators (extreme emotional or mental disturbance and substantially impaired capacity) to exist (II, R254-7; XIX, T2375-8; A10-3). As section 921.141(6)(h) mitigation, the judge found eight factors: 1) good husband and father, 2) close relationship with siblings, 3) childhood physical and emotional abuse, 4) religious devotion and faithful church attendance, 5) good pretrial jail conduct and ability to act appropriately if incarcerated, 6) desire for life sentence by father of Cristy Cowan, 7) contributions to his community, and 8) confessed to crimes (II, R257-9; XIX, T2379-81; A13-5).

The court concluded that as to both homicides, the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances (II, R259-60; XIX, T2381-2; A15-6). Two sentences of death were imposed (II, R260, 264-74; XIX, T2382, A16).

Appellant's notice of appeal was filed July 19, 1999 (II, R275-6). Court-appointed counsel was permitted to withdraw and the Public Defender appointed as appellate counsel on December 7, 1999 (II, R290-1). Jurisdiction lies in this Court pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A) Hearing on Motion to Suppress Confession.

At the pretrial hearing, Detectives Blake, Flair (Martinez)³ and Metzgar testified for the State with respect to the circumstances surrounding Appellant's confessions to the two homicides. Detectives Blake and Flair went to Appellant's residence in Plant City shortly before midnight on May 28, 1999 (SI, T6-9, 39-40). At that time, the detectives knew that Smithers had been employed as a caretaker at a vacant country estate where two bodies had been found in a pond (SI, T7, 39). The heir had made a surprise visit to the property earlier in the evening and discovered Appellant cleaning blood off an axe (SI, T8-10, 38-40).

When the two detectives arrived, Appellant agreed to go with them to the Sheriff's Office for questioning (SI, T9-10, 41-2). He asked that his wife be allowed to accompany them (SI, T10, 42). During the half-hour trip to the Ybor City location, there was no conversation about the investigation (SI, T11-2, 43-4).

According to the testimony of Sharon Smithers, once they reached their destination and were walking toward the building, she asked Detective Flair, "Do we need a lawyer?" (SI, T106-7). Detective Flair replied that they didn't want to make a lawyer angry by waking one up at 12:30 a.m. and that they were simply

³Detective Dorothy Martinez was known by her unmarried name, Dorothy Flair, at the time of these events (SI, T6). Both names are used in the record on appeal - for consistency and clarity she will be referred to as Detective Flair in this brief.

questioning Appellant at this time (SI, T106-7). Appellant agreed that he heard this conversation, but Detectives Blake and Flair denied that it had ever occurred (SI, T26, 44; SII, T151-2).

Appellant was questioned for almost three hours before being taken back home by the detectives (SI, T74). At one point, Detective Flair was reading him Miranda rights when he asked, "Do you think that I need an attorney?" (SI, T14, 28, 46-7, 71-3). Detective Flair stated that she responded to this question with a question of her own, "Do you think you need an attorney or a lawyer?" (SI, T47, 71). Appellant replied, "No, I don't think so" (SI, T15, 28, 47). Detective Flair then reread the Miranda warnings in their entirety; Appellant waived his rights, and questioning continued (SI, T15-6, 28, 47-9, 73-4). The interview terminated when Appellant agreed to return in the morning to take a polygraph (SI, T16-7, 53-4).

Detective Herbert Metzgar conducted the polygraph examination. He testified that Appellant arrived at his office around 11:45 a.m. on May 29, 1996 (SI, T81). Smithers told Detective Metzgar that he had slept for two hours the previous night (SI, T82). Detective Metzgar gave Appellant a Miranda rights form and asked him to read and sign it (SI, T83-5). Appellant appeared to understand the form, which he signed in Detective Metzgar's presence at 11:50 a.m. (SI, T84-5, 96).

The polygraph took about half-an-hour to complete (SI, T96). Detective Metzgar testified that he told Appellant that the

results showed deception with respect to the homicides of the two women (SI, T86). Then, in the words of Detective Metzgar:

And in Mr. Smithers' particular case I had taken a little bit of background information on him from Detective Flair. And she told me he attended church at Plant City. Generally I have a speech that I use on most folks. In Mr. Smithers case I told him, "You don't seem like a bad fellow. You haven't been in a lot of trouble in your lifetime. You're out there working and you don't appear to be the type of individual that just does nothing that makes an effort." And I knew that if he attended church -- of course, I'm a Christian and I explained to him that if he was a Christian -- and it was my belief based on the polygraph he wasn't telling the truth about this, that he might want to tell the truth about it, that that is probably the right thing to do.

(SI, T86-7). On crossexamination, Detective Metzgar maintained that he had only mentioned religious beliefs on this one occasion during the interrogation (SI, T99). There was no discussion regarding whether to consult with a lawyer (SI, T99). Within fifteen minutes after the conclusion of the polygraph test, Appellant made an incriminating statement (SI, T88-9, 98). Detective Metzgar called Detectives Flair and Blake into the room to inform them about the statement (SI, T89-90).

Interrogation continued with Detectives Flair and Blake doing the questioning (SI, T59). They did not reread Miranda warnings (SI, T59-60). Appellant continued to deny committing the homicides and "became pretty insistent" that his wife be allowed to be present during the interrogation (SI, T20, 61-2). Detective Flair went outside, spoke with Sharon Smithers, and brought her into the room to be with her husband (SI, T62).

According to Sharon Smithers, Detective Flair told her that Appellant was about to confess and the police needed her help to convince him "that that was best" (SI, T109-10). However, Detective Flair denied asking Mrs. Smithers to assist them in the interrogation (SI, T63).

Once inside the room, Sharon Smithers encouraged Appellant to "just tell the truth" to the police (SI, T64). Interrogation resumed with questions being directed to Appellant (SI, T21-2, 64-5, 91). Whenever he hesitated to respond, his wife begged him to give truthful answers to the police (SI, T23, 33, 75-6, 91-2, 101). Detective Flair admitted that she might have told Appellant, "Listen to your wife, you need to tell the truth" (SI, T76). Other than that, the detectives denied any reliance on Mrs. Smithers in obtaining Appellant's confession (SI, T22, 64-5, 92-3, 101; SII, T193-4).

Sharon Smithers contradicted the detectives' testimony. She testified that when Appellant hesitated to respond to a question, the detectives would ask her, "Talk to him and see if you can get him to answer" (SI, T127). She was saying to her husband, "Sam, come on tell the truth, be honest, let's get this over with, Baby" (SI, T129). Appellant also testified that the detectives asked his wife to assist them "a couple of times" (SII, T184). He said that he would not have made a statement if his wife had not encouraged him to confess (SII, T158).

Once Appellant admitted to killing Cristy Cowan, the detectives turned to the homicide of Denise Roach. Again, Appellant

initially denied any involvement (SI, T24, 65). "For quite some time", Sharon Smithers "encouraged" her husband to tell the truth (SI, T24, 34, 66). Eventually he admitted killing Denise Roach as well (SI, T25, 66, 93). Detective Flair stated that Sharon Smithers had come into the interrogation room between 1:10 and 1:15 and that the session concluded at 3:10 p.m. (SI, T78).

B) Hearing on Motion to Sever Offenses.

The indictment charged that the homicide of Cristy Cowan took place May 28, 1996 and that Denise Roach had been killed sometime between May 12, 1996 and May 28, 1996 (I, R22-3; SI, T196). The State argued that these separate offenses showed numerous similarities: 1) both victims were prostitutes working in the same area; 2) both were killed in the garage of the Whitehurst property and dumped in the same pond; 3) both had been strangled and bludgeoned with tools; and 4) the witnesses would be the same for both cases (SII, T197-201). The State further contended that the offenses were episodic although they occurred up to two weeks apart (SII, T204, 259, 269). Defense counsel denied that the offenses were episodic in nature and stated that severance was necessary to achieve a fair determination of guilt or innocence (SII, T205).

The court took the motion under advisement and heard additional argument on August 13, 1998 (SII, T206, 235-71). The judge recognized that joinder of offenses was a different matter

than whether Williams Rule evidence could be produced at separate trials (SII, T247, 262, 268). The State urged that the offenses not be severed because evidence of the other homicide was necessary in each case to rebut Appellant's statements about how the women came to be on the property (SII, T243-6). Also, if the offenses were severed, it might appear to the jury that Smithers had been interrogated for an extended period of time before he confessed to the homicide of Denise Roach (SII, T247-9).

The court issued an order on August 24, 1998 denying Appellant's motion to sever offenses (I, R81-5). He found that the two homicides "are connected acts or transactions in an episodic sense" (I, R82). He also observed that evidence of each homicide would be relevant and admissible in the trial of the other under §90.404(2), Fla. Stat. (1995) (I, R82-3).

C) Trial - Guilt or Innocence Phase.

On May 28, 1999, Marion Whitehurst, a kindergarten teacher, drove to inspect property which had belonged to her late mother and was now up for sale (V, T388, 392-3, 406). The property located off U.S. Highway 92 in Plant City, consisted of 27 acres with a house and outbuildings (V, T388-92). The purpose of the visit was to see whether the lawnmowing had been done and because she "had an uneasy feeling" (V, T405).

When Ms. Whitehurst arrived at the site around 7:00 p.m.,

she was surprised to see Samuel Smithers, Appellant, standing near the garage (V, T406-7). Smithers had been employed to mow the property for about a year (V, T394-6). However, he had mowed the lawn and picked up his check only two days previously (V, T401). As Ms. Whitehurst approached him, she noticed that he was washing off an axe (V, T408).

Smithers explained that he had been taking down some tree limbs that had been struck by lightning (V, T410-1). As Whitehurst returned to her car, Appellant went into the garage area and said that he would remain to clean up some blood (V, T412-3). Whitehurst observed a large pool of blood with what looked like Dorito chips surrounding it (V, T414). Smithers said that "something must have killed a squirrel in here" (V, T414-5). Whitehurst also observed drag marks in the sand which she characterized as "bigger than a squirrel" (V, T415). She told Smithers that she appreciated his taking care of her mother's property and drove away (V, T416-7).

Although Smithers' demeanor was "very normal acting and casual", Whitehurst was upset and "knew that something had been killed at the property" (V, T417). After telephoning her brother-in-law who lived in North Carolina, she called the Sheriff's Office and arranged to meet a deputy near the property (V, T417-9). She told the deputy her suspicion that animals were being poached (V, T421).

Patrol deputy Scott Skolnik of the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office responded to the call about 8:00 p.m. (V, T438-

9). He met Whitehurst at a Presto convenience store and they proceeded to the property (V, T440-5). Whitehurst pointed out water on the garage floor and drag marks on the ground (V, T446). Deputy Skolnik followed the drag marks to the pond and discovered a human body floating face down (V, T423-4, 448).

Divers from the Underwater Recovery Team in the Sheriff's Office arrived after it was already dark (V, T462). They put a small inflatable boat into the pond and rowed out to the body (V, T467-70). Later, they discovered another body floating in the pond (V, T472-3). Divers Sergeant Greco and Detective Johnson proceeded to recover the bodies (V, T474-8, 489-94).

The bodies were identified by stipulation as those of Cristy Elizabeth Cowan and Denise Roach, the victims charged in the two-count indictment (I, R22-3; VII, T687-8). Hillsborough County Associate Medical Examiner, Dr. Laura Hair, went to the crime scene and saw the bodies after they had been removed from the water (VII, T688-9). She then performed autopsies on them the next day at her office (VII, T691-2).

With respect to the victim Cristy Cowan, Dr. Hair observed that she had not been dead for more than several hours because the body was not decomposed (VII, T698). There was a foam cone around her mouth which suggested that she might have drowned (VII, T701-2). On the other hand, other causes of death can also cause a foam cone and Dr. Hair did not list drowning on the death certificate (VII, T703, 750-1). Also, the person could already be dead and the foam caused by trapped air escaping from the

lungs (VII, T763).

An injury around Cowan's eye was caused by blunt impact, consistent with a piece of wood or tree limb (VII, T706). A five inch superficial laceration under the lip could have been inflicted by a hoe or a glancing blow from an axe (VII, T706-8). On the other side of her mouth, a blunt impact injury broke the jawbone and several teeth (VII, T708-9). The top of Cowan's head showed what Dr. Hair described as a chop wound which penetrated the skull and went to the superficial portion of the brain (VII, T711-2). This wound was caused by a sharp object, possibly an axe (VII, T712). A similar chop wound behind the left ear could also have been inflicted by an axe (VII, T713).

When Dr. Hair dissected the victim's neck, she saw injuries consistent with manual strangulation (VII, T716). Although the hyoid bone was not fractured, there was hemorrhage around the neck muscles and petechia in one of her eyes (VII, T717). Dr. Hair gave her opinion that strangulation combined with chop wounds to the head was the cause of death (VII, T717). If she had evidence that the victim was alive after being placed in the pond, Dr. Hair would have listed drowning as another potential cause of Cowan's death (VII, T721-2).

With respect to the victim Denise Roach, Dr. Hair observed that the body was quite decomposed and that she must have been in the pond seven to ten days (VII, T722-3). This inhibited Dr. Hair's identification of injuries, but she was still able to determine a cause of death (VII, T725). She noticed two one-inch

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