IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SAMUEL L. SMITHERS,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC96690

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 801-0600
(813) 356-1292 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

waivers and their consequences and did not independently waive his constitutional rights).

Sharon Smithers' Presence During Interrogation

Lastly, although appellant claims that his wife's presence during his interrogation rendered his confession involuntary, appellant never invoked his right to counsel and he specifically requested that his wife be present before he would continue the interview. The totality of circumstances support the trial court's ruling to admit the confession. This claim is meritless.

The trial court analyzed the propriety of Mrs. Smithers' presence during appellant's interrogation in accordance with <u>Lowe v. State</u>, 650 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 516 U.S. 887 (1995). In <u>Lowe</u>, 650 So. 2d 969, 972, the defendant argued against the admission of his confession claiming that the police used his girlfriend as an agent to coerce a confession from him after he had invoked his right to counsel.

Lowe initially waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights and was subjected to some questioning before eventually invoking his right to counsel. After the interrogation ceased, Lowe's girlfriend told investigators she wanted to speak to Lowe to find out what happened, and she agreed to have her conversation with Lowe recorded. The girlfriend then succeeded in convincing Lowe to speak to police. After this conversation with his girlfriend, Lowe confessed that he was the driver of the getaway car involved in the

crime but denied any complicity in the murder, which he blamed on one of two alleged accomplices. <u>See Lowe</u>, 650 So. 2d at 972. This Court, relying upon <u>Arizona v. Mauro</u>, 481 U.S. 520 (1987), ruled that the police did not employ Lowe's girlfriend as an agent to coerce a confession from Lowe and that the trial court did not err in admitting Lowe's incriminating statement. <u>See Lowe</u>, at 974.

In <u>Mauro</u>, 481 U.S. 520, the defendant was arrested for murder and taken to the police station for questioning, which ended after the defendant asked for an attorney. After the defendant's wife persisted in speaking with him, and after obtaining the approval of a supervisor, and with the expressed knowledge that the defendant would possibly incriminate himself, the police allowed the wife to speak with the defendant in the interrogation room.

The admissibility of the taped conversation between the defendant and his wife was addressed by the United State Supreme Court. The Mauro decision noted that there was no express interrogation by the police; there was no evidence of a psychological ploy; and the police did not put the wife in the room in order to seek incriminating responses but merely yielded to her persistent demands. See Lowe, at 973, citing Mauro, 481 U.S. at 528. Thus, the confessions in both Mauro and Lowe were properly admitted.

Here, the circumstances of appellant's confession show no evidence of a psychological ploy and appellant's wife was not

placed in the room to seek incriminating responses. Rather, against their own desire to keep his wife out of the interrogation room, the officers yielded to appellant's persistent demand to have his wife present for any continued questioning. Appellant actually confirmed in his testimony at the suppression hearing that the police did not want his wife to be present. (SII, T182).

None of the detectives wanted Mrs. Smithers to be present during the questioning. (SI, T20). In fact, the detectives did not immediately agree to comply with appellant's request to have his wife present. (SI, T61). After acquiescing to appellant's wish to have his wife present, the interrogation continued. However, no officer directed Mrs. Smithers during the interview nor did any officer ask Mrs. Smithers to assist in the questioning. (SI, T22-23, 63-64).

Under these factual circumstances, the lower court properly found that no improper psychological ploy or coercion caused appellant's confession. As such, where the police did not use Mrs. Smithers as an agent for the purpose of obtaining incriminating statements, the lower court properly admitted appellant's confession. See Lowe, at 974.

Assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, that the trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress, given the limited nature of appellant's statements and the extensive direct on circumstantial evidence establishing that Smithers was responsible for both of the murders,

error, if any, is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The evidence established that Smithers was at the Luxury Motel where the victims worked as prostitutes. Defendant was identified as the man who solicited prostitutes to go to Seffner with him. Smithers had complete and unfettered access to the property and was discovered washing a bloody axe in a bloodstained garage on a day he had no reason to be there and after having locked the entry gate behind him. A mixture of secreted fluids was found on the bedroom rug that DNA matches as possibly coming from Smithers and Roach.

Thus, absent the exclusion of Smithers' statements claiming the deaths were the result of self defense, it is beyond a reasonable doubt that Smithers would have been found guilty as charged.

ISSUE III

WHETHER APPELLANT HAS ESTABLISHED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR OCCURRED WHEN DEFENSE COUNSEL WAIVED APPELLANT'S PRESENCE FOR A PRETRIAL HEARING WHERE A DEFENSE MOTION IN LIMINE WAS HEARD AND DENIED.

Appellant's next claim is that the trial court erred in conducting a hearing on a defense motion to preclude testimony concerning Smithers' involvement with the prostitutes from the Luxury Motel when defendant was not present. He contends that, although counsel waived his presence, since Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180(a) requires the defendant's presence at all pretrial conferences unless waived by the defendant in writing, this Court should reverse. Smithers' absence during the motion in limine and the failure to obtain a written waiver was not raised below. Accordingly, the claim is barred and appellant must show fundamental error to obtain relief. As Smithers' absence during the purely legal proceeding was harmless, he has not established that fundamental fairness has been thwarted and is not entitled to relief. Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1124-25 (Fla. 2000).

On December 7, 1998, the court held a hearing on the two

³ Although most issues are reviewed for abuse of discretion, since this claim was not presented to the court below and there is no trial court ruling to give deference to, the standard of review is de novo. However, since the defendant has received the windfall of a better standard of review, i.e. de novo, by failing to preserve the issue in the lower court, the higher burden for unpreserved error (must be a violation of due process going to the foundation of the case) must be strictly enforced or the result is that the contemporaneous objection rule becomes meaningless on appeal.

defense motions in limine. The defendant's presence was waived on the record before the court conducted legal argument on the motions. (SIII, T346) The first motion addressed at the hearing sought to limit the showing of a video of the crime scene and the medical examiner reviewing the bodies. The state agreed that the video would be redacted and only show the crime scene. (SIII, T346-47). Because the court reserved ruling on this motion, appellant recognizes that no prejudice resulted to Smithers and, therefore no reversible error has been shown.

The second motion addressed at the hearing, concerned testimony about Smithers' involvement with the prostitutes from the Luxury Motel. Defense counsel argued that they were trying to limit the scope of evidence that would be presented through prostitutes that Smithers consorted with them. Defense counsel asserted that the evidence was irrelevant and that relevancy would be outweighed by its prejudicial value. (SIII, T348) The state responded that these witnesses would not only testify about seeing the victims with Smithers but, also, that during dealings with Smithers, he offered one of them money to go to Seffner with him. The state asserted that this evidence was relevant to establishing why the victims were in Seffner and the modus operandi of the (SIII, T348) Defense counsel responded that the defendant. evidence was not admissible to prove propensity and asked that the state not be allowed to introduce the evidence in opening

statements. Counsel also asked that when the state was prepared to present any of these witnesses, to have the jury be taken out and argument be heard on the issue. (SIII, T349) In response to the court's inquiry as to whether the defense was asking to exclude the fact that the witnesses were prostitutes, defense counsel responded that they were seeking to limit any evidence of propensity of Smithers to consort with prostitutes. The court then denied the motion. (SIII, T350)

At trial three witnesses, Bonnie Kruse, Angie Johnson and Sharon Shepherd, testified they were prostitutes. (VIII, T908; IX, T968, 980) Prior to calling the first of these witnesses to the stand, the court held a bench conference to schedule the rest of the witnesses for the day. (VIII, T906) The state noted that two of the ladies were going to testify that day. Defense counsel stated that he wanted to renew his objection to the admission of the testimony concerning his client's sexual conduct. The court denied the motion but told counsel if there were any specific things to feel free to raise them additionally. (VIII, T906-07)

Bonnie Kruse then testified that she was a prostitute who worked streets with Cristy Cowan and Denise Roach at the Luxury Motel. She testified that Cristy was strict about condoms and had a drug problem. Denise also had drug problem and she wore a lot of jewelry. (VIII, T917, 922) Kruse was able to identify the ring found on one of the victims as being Roach's ring. (VIII, T925)

Kruse also identified Smithers. (VIII, T929, 931) She said she had dated him before and remembered him because after she rejected his repeated offer of money for her to leave the room and go to Seffner with him, he got a look in his eye that scared her. (VIII, T926-927) She described Smithers as having a dark truck with a "bad boys" decal. (VIII, T929)

Angie Johnson testified that she was friends with Denise Roach and Cristy Cowan. She identified some jewelry as belonging to Denise Roach. (IX, T968-74) When she last saw Cristy she was getting in a vehicle. Cristy was high, it was just her and another person. (IX, T974-978)

Sharon Sheppard testified that she was a prostitute; she was friends at the Luxury Motel with Cristy and she had seen Denise. The last time she saw Cristy she was wearing a jumper. (IX, 983-86) She gave Cristy \$10 and an orange package-non lubricated Trojan condom. She had bought the big package of condoms and was able to give one to police to match to the one found at the scene. (IX, T988-989)

Despite the court's offer to entertain additional objections, defense counsel only found one question which he thought may become objectionable if it got into his client's sexual activities.

⁴ Counsel made a total of five objections during the testimony of Bonnie Kruse, but none during the testimony of Sheppard or Johnson. Three were leading question objections, one was a motion for mistrial based on Kruse's testimony that Smithers had a scary look in his eye and the last was to foundation where counsel questioned if the state was getting into sexual activity. (VIII, T920, 927,

During the state's questioning of Bonnie Kruse she was asked if she was familiar with Denise Roach's personal habits and how she would act. (VIII, T920) Smithers objected based on lack of foundation. The objection was overruled. The state then asked if she was familiar with Cristy Cowan as a person, her work habits and her drug habits. Counsel renewed foundation objection and expressed concern that the state was getting into what her habits were with respect to sexual activities. The prosecutor asserted that she was not going after sexual activity and the court overruled the objection "at this time." (VIII, 920-21) At no point did defense counsel object to any evidence actually presented as going to sexual conduct.

Based on this record the state maintains that any error in not having Smithers present during the initial motion in limine conference is harmless as Smithers was not prejudiced by his absence at the hearings.

In <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 510 So. 2d 885, 890-91 (Fla. 1987), this Court addressed Roberts' complaint that he, like Smithers, was not present during, among other things, the court's consideration of several motions to exclude evidence. This Court held:

Roberts' next point on appeal involves three other instances in which Roberts alleges that he was absent from the proceedings. Roberts argues that these absences violated his right to be present at all crucial stages of the trial. Roberts first points to two

^{928, 929, 950)}

pretrial conferences claiming that he was not present at the afternoon session of the October 24 conference and was absent from the entire December 2 proceeding. Roberts relies Rule of Criminal Florida Procedure 3.180(a)(3) which provides that a defendant be present "[a]t any pre-trial shall conference; unless waived by Defendant in writing." The record does not reflect whether Roberts was present or absent during these proceedings. See <u>United States v. Bokine</u>, 523 F.2d 767 (5th Cir.1975) (The burden is upon the appellant to show that he was absent during proceedings before he would have even arguable complaint.). However, even assuming that Roberts was involuntarily absent these two occasions, neither absence thwarted the fundamental fairness of the proceedings. See Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d at 363-64. During the afternoon session of October 24, the following motions considered: (1) The defendant's motion for a daily transcript of the trial--denied; (2) Defendant's motion to strike a/k/a on endictment--denied, later granted; (3) Defendant's motion concerning death penalty questions during voir dire and to empanel a separate sentencing jury--denied; Defendant's for motion psychological evaluation of Michelle Rimondi--granted with limitations; (5) Defendant's request for presentence investigation -- ruling withheld; (6) Defendant's motion for list of sentencing witnesses and exhibits--passed with court's comment that defendant had an "absolute right" to that information; (7) Defendant's motion reopen depositions of Rimondi others--granted with limitations; Defendant's motion to prohibit dispersal of jury during recess--granted; (9) Defendant's motion to seek sequestration of jury--ruling withheld; (10) Defendant's motion concerning comments on his right to counsel--granted. During the December 2 conference the following motions were heard: (1) The defendant's motion to reopen the deposition of Denise Moon, Rimondi's rape counselor--denied; Defendant's motion to restrict use of other

crime evidence--granted; (3) Defendant's motion for release of grand jury transcript--denied; (5) State's motion to limit cross-examination of state witness Campbell--granted; (6) State's motion to limit cross-examination of state witness Rimondi--granted; (7) State's motion to limit inquiry into Rimondi's social history--ruling reserved, eventually granted. Although a number of the rulings on these motions were adverse to Roberts, each of the motions heard during these sessions involved matters in which Roberts, if present, could not have assisted defense counsel in arquing. Therefore, we find that the state has met its burden in showing that, if in fact the defendant was not present during these proceedings, he was not prejudiced. See id. at 364.

Roberts v. State, 510 So. 2d 885, 890-91 (Fla. 1987)

To paraphrase this Court's ruling in Roberts, "although a number of the rulings on these motions were adverse to Smithers, each of the motions heard during these sessions involved matters in which Smithers, if present, could not have assisted defense counsel in arguing. Moreover, defense counsel did not assert below or here on appeal that any objectionable evidence was introduced to the jury, despite the trial court's invitation to him to raise any specific objections when the evidence was presented to the jury [in Smithers' presence]. Thus, as Smithers has failed to establish that any prejudice has resulted and "fundamental fairness has been thwarted," this claim should be denied. Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1124-25 (Fla. 2000); Pomeranz v. State, 703 So. 2d 465,

470-71 (Fla. 1997) (holding that such violations are subject to harmless error analysis and the proceeding will only be reversed on this basis if "fundamental fairness has been thwarted.")

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE SENTENCING JUDGE ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE APPLIED TO THE HOMICIDE OF DENISE ROACH.

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